
1 
 

 

CITY OF KIRKLAND 
Planning and Building Department 
123 5th Avenue, Kirkland, WA 98033  
425.587.3600- www.kirklandwa.gov  

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To: Planning Commission 
 
From: Dorian Collins, AICP, Senior Planner 
 Adam Weinstein, AICP, Deputy Planning Director 
 
Date: September 18, 2018 
 
Subject: Amendments to the Kirkland Zoning Code and Comprehensive Plan for 

the Totem Lake Business District (File CAM18-00196) 
 
Staff Recommendation 
Review the topics and suggested approaches to amendments, and provide direction to 
staff for revisions to the text of the Zoning Code and Comprehensive Plan.  Based on 
Planning Commission direction, staff will develop draft amendments for consideration at 
a public hearing on October 25, 2018.   
 
Background 
As part of the adopted 2018-20 Planning Work Program, the City is considering 
amendments to regulations and policies for the Totem Lake Business District.  The 
proposed amendments include a variety of changes to the text and figures in the Zoning 
Code and Comprehensive Plan.  The Planning Commission reviewed the purpose and 
preliminary study scope for amendments to be considered on April 26, 2018.  Materials 
provided for that meeting can be reviewed here.   
 
The study scope (Attachment 1) presented at that meeting has been updated to reflect 
initial direction from the Planning Commission, and to summarize the preliminary 
recommendations from staff, described in more detail in this memorandum.  The revised 
scope also notes changes to the amendments to be included for study.  Most of the 
proposed changes to the scope are additional amendments in response to direction from 
the Planning Commission or identified by staff during the course of research and 
preparation of the initial list of amendments.  The structure of the scope summary has 
also been revised slightly to be organized by the purpose of the change rather than the 
document to be amended. 
 
Changes to the Study Scope 
 
Proposed amendments discussed at the Planning Commission meeting in April that are 
not included in the scope for consideration by the Planning Commission at the public 
hearing in October are listed below. This list comprises items that do not require a public 
hearing by the Planning Commission and/or are items that have been withdrawn from 

1

http://www.kirklandwa.gov/
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Planning+Commission/Totem+Lake+Amendments+Staff+Memo+with+Attachment+-+CAM18-00196.pdf


2 
 

consideration by development applicants.   
 

 Design Guidelines:  The design guidelines for the Totem Lake Business District 
are contained in the Kirkland Municipal Code (KMC).  The review process for 
amendments to the Design Guidelines does not require that the Planning 
Commission hold a public hearing or prepare a recommendation to the City 
Council.  However, KMC Section 3.30.040 states that the City Council shall 
consult with the Planning Commission prior to amending design guidelines.  
Proposed changes to the design guidelines that relate to development in the 
Totem Lake Business District will be presented to the Planning Commission for 
review and comment at a meeting in October.  Changes proposed include 
corrections, updates and several revisions to text and figures to incorporate 
recommendations from the Totem Lake Enhancement and Multimodal 
Transportation Network Plan. 

 

 Kingsgate Park and Ride Transit Oriented Development (TOD):  Approved by 
voters in November of 2016, the ST3 package includes a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 
Project on I-405. To serve transit on the I-405 BRT station at Totem Lake, the 
project includes a 600-stall parking structure on the site of the Kingsgate Park 
and Ride, increasing the parking capacity to a total of 902 parking spaces. The 
project also includes a BRT station at the Totem Lake inline freeway station, 
which is adjacent to the Kingsgate Park and Ride.  

 
In April, 2018 a consultant team, funded by Sound Transit, began to explore the 
feasibility of transit-oriented development (TOD) to accompany the construction 
of the parking garage.  The draft report has recently been completed, and 
indicates that changes to zoning regulations should include amendments to 
building height limits and the range of uses allowed at the site.  The Planning 
Commission will likely begin its study of possible code amendments necessary to 
support TOD at the Kingsgate site in the first quarter of 2019.   
 

 Residential Suites – Request from Robert Pantley and Angela Rozmyn:  
 

The amendments under study include expanding the permitted uses within the 
Housing Incentive Areas (see area 4 on map) within the TL 10C and TL 10D 
zones to include residential suites.  Robert Pantley and Angela Rozmyn of Natural 
& Built Environments had requested that the use be explored in these subareas 
during the 2017 code amendment process, and the City Council added the task 
to the scope for study in 2018.  Typical multifamily residential development is 
already allowed in these areas, so changes to Comprehensive Plan policies would 
not be necessary to also allow residential suites. 
 
This scope for the 2018 Totem Lake code amendments also included a new 
request from Natural & Built Environments to include the study of the expansion 
of the range of uses within TL 10A (an office/business park zone) to include 
residential suites.  The development company had submitted plans for 
development on property owned by the Residence XII facility in two phases.  The 
first phase would include transitional housing for Residence XII.  Code 

2

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/html/KirklandZ180/KirklandZ180.html#Plate37


3 
 

amendments approved in 2017 had provided for “temporary transitional housing” 
as an accessory use for the treatment facility.  The second phase for the 
proposed project would include development of residential suites on the 
property, if the permitted uses were expanded to include the use within the TL 
10A zone.   
 
Natural & Built Environments has notified the City that it is no longer pursuing 
the development of residential suites at the Residence XII property.  
Representatives from Residence XII have also said that the facility is not able to 
pursue the transitional housing project on its own, and plans to sell the 
additional property.  The representatives indicated that they will continue to 
evaluate asking the City to study changes to allow residential suites for a 
different developer to pursue in order to provide more land use options for a 
potential buyer of the property, and will notify the City of this interest within the 
next month.  Unless the City is notified of this interest with sufficient time for 
study prior to the public hearing, the study of changes to the Comprehensive 
Plan and zoning regulations to allow residential use within the TL 10A zone will 
no longer be included within the scope of the 2018 Totem Lake amendments.  
Staff is not pursuing these potential amendments independently because 
residential use in the TL10A zone is not consistent with existing policy direction 
in the Comprehensive Plan, many other zones in the business district already 
allow residential suites, and they may be added to two additional zones with this 
set of amendments.   
 

Project 
 
As discussed in the materials for the April Planning Commission study session, the 
proposed amendments are intended to: 
 

 Correct minor errors/provide minor updates to zoning regulations and 
Comprehensive Plan text. 

 Provide more flexible regulations in response to requests from property owners 
and developers, consistent with Resolution R-5254 

 Revise zoning regulations and design guidelines to be implement the 
recommendations of the Totem Lake Enhancement and Multimodal 
Transportation Network Plan 

 
Analysis 
 
Staff’s analysis and an initial recommendations are provided for each topic.  Questions 
for the Planning Commission and a request for Planning Commission direction are 
included for topics other than those that are intended to correct or update the Zoning 
Code and Comprehensive Plan.  As noted above, additional changes proposed to the 
design guidelines, requiring amendments to the Municipal Code, will be presented to the 
Planning Commission at a subsequent meeting. 
 
  

3

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Planning+Commission/Totem+Lake+Amendments+Staff+Memo+with+Attachment+-+CAM18-00196.pdf
http://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/City+Council/Council+Packets/050217/10b_UnfinishedBusiness.pdf
http://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Totem+Lake+Enhancement+Plan.pdf
http://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Totem+Lake+Enhancement+Plan.pdf


4 
 

A. Corrections and updates 
 
Zoning Code 

 
1. TL 10B (Section 55.73.3) 

Proposed amendment (Staff recommendation):  Eliminate General 
Regulation 3 (see Attachment 2).   
Purpose:  General Regulation 3 requires the dedication and improvement 
of right of way as a 
condition of development 
to enable the construction 
of 118th Avenue NE 
through the TL 10B zone.  
The road is currently 
under construction and 
expected to open toward 
the end of 2019, or when 
the first building of the 
Lifebridge residential 
project is complete.  The 
condition is no longer 
necessary. 
 

2. Chapter 180, Plate 34C: 
Proposed amendment (Staff recommendation):  Eliminate Plate 34C 
which is now obsolete, due to the construction of 118th Avenue (see 
Attachment 3, page 1). 
 

3. TL 4A/B/C (Sections 55.31.2 and 4), TL 5 (Sections 55.37.2,3,5 and 6) 
and TL 6A/B (Sections 55.43.3,4, 8 and 9) 
Proposed amendment (Staff recommendation):  Revise General 
Regulations to refer to revised Plates 34A and 34C.  Add term “paved” to 
General Regulations (see Attachment 4).  Eliminate General Regulation 
regarding ground floor space, already addressed in Chapter 92 (Design 
Regulations) and design guidelines. 
Purpose:  Several of the General Regulations contain requirements that 
use terms that are not defined.  The added references to Plates 34A and 
34C in Chapter 180 (plates are to be revised, as discussed in Sections C.3 
and B.3 below) clarify the locations of required pedestrian and vehicular 
connections and through block pathways.  The addition of the term 
“paved” clarifies that the regulations apply only to paved circulation 
routes.  The elimination of a regulation that calls for design to “encourage 
pedestrian activity and visual interest” will eliminate confusion caused by 
vague language, and ensure that the appropriate design regulations and 
guidelines are used. 
 

4. Multiple Zones (Section 92.15.3.b) 
Proposed amendment (Staff recommendation):  Add reference to the 

 

4



5 
 

Cross Kirkland Corridor (CKC) and Eastside Rail Corridor (ERC) to design 
regulations requiring screening or treatment for blank walls (see 
Attachment 5).  
Purpose:  Since the CKC and ERC run through much of the Totem Lake 
Business District, the Planning Commission asked that staff ensure that 
the design of walls adjacent to the CKC and ERC be addressed in design 
regulations and guidelines.  The proposed change would apply the 
regulations for the treatment of blank walls for structures adjacent to the 
CKC and ERC throughout the district.  

 
Comprehensive Plan 

 
1. Western Mixed-Use Subarea Discussion (Totem Lake Business 

District Plan) 
Proposed amendment (Staff recommendation):  Eliminate text that calls 
for a new road connection linking NE 116th Street and NE 118th Street 
(see Attachment 6).   
Purpose:  As noted in Section A.1 above, the road connection was a 
requirement of the Lifebridge development.  

 
B. Flexibility in regulations (Zoning Code) 
 

1. Increased Building Height to Match Residential Height Limit (TL 
6A/B and TL 10B) 

 
Issue:  Doug Waddell, of Waddell Properties, submitted a letter 
(Attachment 7) to the City Council that requests that the maximum 
building height for several non-residential uses in the TL 6A zone be 
increased to 65 feet to be consistent with the height limit for residential 
uses in the zone.  The height limitation for office, hotel, and assisted 
living/convalescent center/nursing home uses is 45 feet.  At the meeting 
in April, the Planning Commission directed staff to include zones with 
similar requirements in the analysis of this request. 
 
Analysis:  As discussed on page 3 of the staff memorandum for the 
Planning Commission meeting in April, the TL 6A and TL 6B zones are 
designated as Housing Incentive Areas 1, 2 and 3.  An incentive for 
residential use is provided in these zones through the provision of a 
greater building height for residential use than for other uses.  The same 
conditions exist in the TL 10B zone, designated as Housing Incentive Area 
5.   
 
The residential incentive was established at a time when private 
development was more likely to produce office than residential uses.  
That trend has changed in recent years, particularly in the Totem Lake 
Business District.   
 

5

http://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/html/pdfs/55-45.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Planning+Commission/Totem+Lake+Amendments+Staff+Memo+with+Attachment+-+CAM18-00196.pdf
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/html/KirklandZ180/KirklandZ180.html#Plate37


6 
 

Residential development is outpacing non-residential development in 
Totem Lake.  The table to the 
right from the Comprehensive 
Plan shows the number of 
dwelling units and employees 
in the Totem Lake Urban 
Center in 2014 and the 
number projected for the year 
2035.  At this time, the 
number of residential units “in 
the pipeline” (either under 
construction or building permit 
applications are under review) 
for Totem Lake is 1,894 (see 
Major Development Projects 
Report).  This increase in units represents 75% of the total number of 
units projected for the urban center for the entire 20-year period. 
 
Non-residential development in Totem Lake since 2014 has been primarily 
in retail development at the Village at Totem Lake.  A total of 313,130 
square feet of commercial space is in the pipeline in Totem Lake.  None 
of this square footage is proposed as office space.  While there are some 
new office tenants moving to Totem Lake, all are reported to be 
occupying existing office space.  Using standard assumptions, the total 
number of employees for this commercial space is estimated to be 626.  
In other job totals reported through the City’s other sources, the number 
of jobs created since 2014 is 495.  Summing these job estimates, a total 
of 1,121 new jobs will be created once the pipeline development is 
occupied, representing about 19% of the total projected for the 20-year 
period to 2035. 
 
Staff suggests that the residential incentive provided by the increased 
height allowed for residential development in the TL 6A/6B and TL 10B 
zones is no longer necessary.  While a wide range of uses are permitted 
in these zones, office uses would provide the greatest number of jobs for 
the urban center.   
 
Staff Recommendation:  Staff recommends that the height limit for Office 
use in the TL 6A/6B zone be increased from 45 feet to 65 feet, and from 
55 feet to 65 feet in the TL 10B zone.  The increased heights would 
match the existing building height maximums for the “Attached or 
Stacked Dwelling Units” use listing in these zones.   
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - Increased building 
height to match residential height limit: 
 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendations? 
 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 

 
(Source:  Comprehensive Plan, Totem Lake 
Urban Center, 2015) 

6

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Development+Activity+Summary.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Development+Activity+Summary.pdf
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/html/KirklandZ55/KirklandZ5541-5545.html#55.41
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/html/pdfs/55-75.pdf


7 
 

recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 
 

2. 75 Foot Height Limit (Multiple Zones) 
 

Issue:  The City has received requests for an increase in the allowable 
building height to 75 feet for the area around the planned bus rapid 
transit stop on NE 85th Street (see Attachments 8 and 9).  One request 
suggests that a building height of 75 feet provides more options for 
development, including allowing for the construction of five floors of 
residential use in wood frame construction over a two-story concrete 
podium.  The request states that the height increase may allow for more 
housing and more efficient development.  The other request argues for 
the increased height to allow for greater modulation of the roofline, 
decorative parapets, landscaped planters, barbecue areas and other 
rooftop amenities.  Attachment 10 provides photographs showing 
examples of mixed use apartment buildings at heights of 75 feet, 
submitted to supplement one of the requests.   
 
The Planning Commission could consider increasing the maximum 
building height for mixed use from 65 feet to 75 feet in Totem Lake as 
well.  The increase would provide the flexibility cited above which would 
likely be welcomed by the development community.  Attachment 11 
includes comments submitted by Doug Waddell from an architect in 
support of the increased height, as a solution to satisfying requirements 
for parking and retail space. 
 
City of Kirkland Building Division officials agree that the building types 
described above are possible with recent changes to the building codes 
that eliminated restrictions to various uses, including residential, within 
the concrete podium.  They do note, however, that fire safety restrictions 
may limit the potential for residential use beyond 70 feet in height.  Still, 
the increased height would provide flexibility and the potential for 
additional residential units where development can satisfy building and 
fire code standards.   
 
Staff consulted ARCH for guidance regarding whether the increase in 
height should be accompanied by an increase in the affordability 
requirement in place in Totem Lake zones.  Currently, 10 percent of the 
units in multifamily residential development (other than residential suites 
or development in the TL 2 zone) must be designated as affordable 
housing units.  The ten percent set aside was determined to be 
appropriate through a financial analysis conducted by ARCH.  Staff asked 
that ARCH determine whether the additional increment of building height 
to be considered with this potential code amendment might merit a 
greater set aside of affordable units.  Attachment 12 provides the 
response from ARCH to this request.  
 
The comments from ARCH highlight the complexity of analyzing whether 

7



8 
 

the additional increment of building height might support an increase in 
the set aside of affordable housing units.  The use of the additional 
height may be to enable a two-story concrete podium occupied with uses 
other than additional residential units, or to allow for other flexibility in 
design.  Another complicating factor is that the 10 percent set aside is in 
place in some zones that already allow building heights greater than 75 
feet.  
 
Staff Recommendation:  Staff recommends that an increase in height to 
75 feet be considered for Totem Lake zones located closest to the core of 
the urban center and away from single family residential areas (see 
Zoning Map, page 17 of materials from April Planning Commission 
meeting), where mixed use is currently allowed at heights below 75 feet.  
The recommended increases would be as follows: 
 

Zone Current Height 
Limit 

Attached or 
Stacked Dwelling 

Units 

Proposed New 
Height 

Attached or 
Stacked Dwelling 

Units 

Increase in 
Height 

 

TL 
4A/B/C 

65’ 75’ 10’ 

TL 6A/B 65’ 75’ 10’ 

 
Staff does not recommend that the set aside for affordable units be 
increased in these zones, since the additional height may not be used for 
additional residential units.  The requirement could also be inequitable 
since some Totem Lake zones with existing height limits greater than 75 
feet have an established 10 percent set aside. 
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - Building height 
increase to 75 feet: 
 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendations? 
 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 

recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 
 

3. Requirement for Ground Floor Commercial Use in Mixed Use 
Development (TL 4A/B/C, TL 5, TL 6A/B and TL 7A) 

 
Issue:  In his letter (Attachment 7), Doug Waddell also states that 
prospective developers have reported that the requirements for ground 
floor commercial use that apply to his property in the TL 6A zone are too 
high given the types of streets where the property is located.  He 

8

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Planning+Commission/Totem+Lake+Amendments+Staff+Memo+with+Attachment+-+CAM18-00196.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Planning+Commission/Totem+Lake+Amendments+Staff+Memo+with+Attachment+-+CAM18-00196.pdf


9 
 

suggests that the development of ground 
floor commercial use be optional, 
determined by market feasibility rather 
than by requirements in the Zoning Code, 
or that the requirement be reduced.  At 
the meeting in April, the Planning 
Commission directed staff to include 
zones with similar ground floor 
requirements in the analysis of this 
request. 
 
Staff has also heard from developers that 
the location of a parcel in the TL 4A zone 
where the Office Max store was formerly 
located (see inset map below) poses unique challenges for commercial 
use in mixed use development due to a lack of visibility and access. This 
issue is also addressed in the analysis and recommendations below. 
 
Analysis:  The table in Attachment 13 
provides the requirements for ground 
floor commercial use in mixed use 
developments in many of Kirkland’s 
commercial zones.  For comparison, 
information is also provided for 
commercial areas in several 
neighboring cities.    
 
In the TL 6A zone where Mr. Waddell’s 
property is located, the Zoning Code 
requires that Attached or Stacked 
Dwelling Units and Residential Suites 
include commercial use on the ground floor.  The gross floor area of the 
commercial use must be equal to or greater than 20 percent of the area 
of the subject property.  The same requirement exists for mixed use in 
the TL 4A/B/C, TL 5 and TL 7A zones.   
 
Only the City’s BC 1 and BC 2 (Community Business) zones and the 
Totem Lake commercial zones included in this analysis require that 
commercial space occupy a percentage of the area of the subject 
property.  Other commercial zones, such as the BC, RH (Rose Hill) and 
Houghton Everest zones require that a percentage of the gross floor area 
on the ground floor be occupied by commercial use.  In the City’s 
pedestrian-oriented districts, such as the downtown and neighborhood 
business areas, regulations call for a minimum linear frontage of 
commercial uses. 
 
The requirement for commercial use in the Totem Lake zones was 
intended to preserve commercial capacity in the area.  Prior to the 

 

 

9

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/html/KirklandZ55/KirklandZ5541-5545.html#55.41


10 
 

adoption of a new plan for the neighborhood and its designation as an 
urban center in 2003, these subareas had been traditional “BC” zones, 
expected to develop primarily with commercial uses at heights of about 
30 feet.  When new policies were adopted to focus growth in the core of 
the Totem Lake Urban Center, policies also called for both preserving and 
intensifying commercial areas outside of the core.  Other policies 
encouraged residential use (and affordable housing) in general 
commercial areas.  Implementing regulations increased the building 
height for residential use, while requiring a substantial amount of the 
ground floor to be devoted to commercial use.   
 
Since the amendments were adopted, developers have often maintained 
that the commercial requirement in mixed use development is not 
feasible for a variety of reasons.  Some have suggested that a depth 
requirement, such as that in place in the pedestrian-oriented districts of 
Kirkland’s downtown, would be more appropriate.  When a study of the 
City’s neighborhood business family of zones considered this issue in 
2012, the regulations were revised from a requirement that 75% of the 
ground floor be in commercial use, to one requiring a minimum 
commercial frontage.    
 
Staff suggests that the Planning Commission consider the objectives for 
commercial use in each zone, and determine the approach most likely to 
achieve them: 
 

 Retention of commercial use/tax base.  Where an area has 
traditionally been important to providing a strong commercial base 
for the City, key to Totem Lake’s role as the City’s “economic 
engine,” a requirement that commercial use occupy a percentage 
of the subject property or ground floor may be appropriate. 

 
Staff suggests that where this objective is identified, a percentage 
of the ground floor rather than a percentage of the subject 
property be selected as the approach for regulation.  The subject 
property may be unusually large relative to the size of a proposed 
structure, parking areas may occupy a significant portion of the 
subject property, or environmental features may limit the area of 
the subject property to be developed.  For these and other 
possible reasons, using the subject property to determine the 
square footage of commercial space to be developed on a site 
may diminish the desirability of redevelopment. 

 

 Contribution to an active pedestrian environment.  Both ground 
floor uses and building design at the street level contribute to the 
pedestrian environment.  In the City’s very active commercial 
areas such as downtown Kirkland and the Village at Totem Lake, 
street level uses are generally restricted to those that draw 
pedestrians:  retail, restaurants/taverns and entertainment, 

10



11 
 

cultural or recreational activities.  Design standards in these areas 
are also intended to ensure buildings orient to the pedestrian 
(including through the inclusion of weather protective design 
features, amenities, human scale elements, etc.).  The streets in 
these areas are also designated as “Pedestrian-Oriented Streets,” 
which further defines the character of the pedestrian environment 
through sidewalk widths, plazas and design regulations specific to 
these streets (see proposed revised “Pedestrian Circulation in 
Totem Lake map, Attachment 14).   

 
 Creation of a lively streetscape.  In other less active commercial or 

mixed use areas outside of the core of the business district, the 
objective may be to simply create or enhance the streetscape to 
contribute to an interesting experience for pedestrians or other 
visitors.  In these areas, a broader range of uses may be 
appropriate at the ground floor, including office uses. Most streets 
beyond the core of the Totem Lake Urban Center are ones where 
the streetscape is intended to be lively, but uses are not limited 
solely to retail along the street.  As shown in Attachment 14, most 
of these streets are designated as “Major Pedestrian Sidewalks”. 

 
 
The matrix below provides the objective for commercial use for each of 
the commercial areas included in this analysis, as described in the 
Comprehensive Plan (Totem Lake Chapter), Totem Lake Design 
Guidelines and the Totem Lake Enhancement and Multimodal 
Transportation Network Plan.  The map in Attachment 15 shows the 
locations of these subareas. 
 

Relevant Commercial Capacity and Design Objectives in Totem Lake Districts 

Policy/Regulatory 

Document  
 

Zoning District 

TL 4A/B/C TL 5 TL 6A TL 6B TL 7A 

Comprehensive 

Plan 

 Commercial 

emphasis 

 Strengthened 

retail 

 Support for 

pedestrian-

orientation 
 New internal 

street grid 

 Housing 

Incentive 

Area 

 Housing Incentive 

Area 

 Potential for more 

intensive 

commercial and 
residential 

 Pedestrian-

orientation 

 Support 

for 

ground 

floor 
com-

mercial 
 Pedes-

trian 

orien-
tation 

not 

priority 

Design Guidelines  Identified for 

“large site 

development” 

 Commercial 

use 

 Emphasis on 

pedestrian 

orientation, 

new street 
grid 

 Commercial 

along NE 

124th 

St/124th Ave 
 Multifamily 

 Emphasis on 

pedestrian 

orientation, new 

street grid 
 Retail at ground 

 Com-

mercial 

empha-

sis 
(Guide-

11

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/cgi/NewSmartCompile.pl?path=html/KirklandCP15I/KirklandCP15I.html
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Neighborhood+Design+Guidelines.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Neighborhood+Design+Guidelines.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf


12 
 

emphasized 

 Orientation 

to 
“Circulator” 

 Retail along 

internal 

streets 

toward 

Slater 

level lines 

have 
not 

been 

updated 
since 

residen-
tial was 

allowed 
in 

2015). 

Enhancement 
Plan 

 Placemaking 

opportunities 
along new 

through block 

pathways 

 Placemaking 

and 
gathering 

space 

opportunities 
 New internal 

street grid 

 Placemaking 

and 
gathering 

space 

opportunities 
along NE 

120th Street 
 

 Placemaking 

opportunities 
along new 

interior street 

grid 

 Not 

identi-
fied for 

place-

making 

 
As noted above, one parcel located in the TL 4A zone has additional 
challenges due to its 
“dead-end” location.  
The parcel is unique in 
the zone in that it is 
the only parcel with 
no direct frontage on 
a street, other than 
the end of 120th Place 
NE (see photos at 
right) and the Cross 
Kirkland Corridor.  
While a destination 
commercial use may 
be successful in this 
location, developers 
have argued that 
challenges caused by 
the site’s lack of 
visibility and 
pedestrian access 
make it difficult to 
find commercial 
tenants interested in 
locating in a mixed 
use project.   
 
The TL 8 zone which 
borders Totem Lake 
on the north, provides 

View of Office Max site (TL 4A) from 120th 
Place NE 

 
 

 

12



13 
 

an exemption for similarly challenged parcels on NE Totem Lake Way, 
east of the Café Veloce restaurant and the (former) Yuppie Pawn 
property. While ground floor commercial uses are required for the 
westernmost parcels in this zone, they are not required for those that 
abut the “dead end” of the street, where visibility and access is very 
limited. 
 
Staff Recommendation: For the TL 5 and TL 6B zones, the 
Comprehensive Plan and Design Guidelines emphasize pedestrian 
orientation and 
new streets are 
envisioned.  The 
Enhancement 
Plan further 
identifies these 
areas and the TL 
6A zone, 
particularly along 
NE 120th Street, 
as having the 
potential for 
placemaking and 
the creation of 
gathering spaces.  
In these areas, 
commercial use is 
not identified as 
a chief emphasis.  Here, staff recommends that a shift to the “liner 
commercial” approach may be appropriate.  This approach would ensure 
that commercial uses contribute to a lively streetscape along all of the 
existing and planned new streets in the area, while relieving the 
development community of the challenging requirement that commercial 
uses must occupy 20% of the area of the subject property.  Staff 
suggests that the approach in the BN/BNA zones (see Attachment 13) be 
used, which requires that commercial uses be oriented toward the street, 
and that the commercial use occupy a depth of at least 20 feet, with an 
average depth of at least 30 feet.  Residential use would be allowed 
behind the commercial frontage.   
 
For the TL 4 and TL 7A zones, staff suggests that the existing approach 
best meets the established objectives for the subareas in maintaining a 
strong commercial presence.  However, staff recommends that the 
regulations be revised to be based on the gross floor area of the ground 
floor, rather than the area of the subject property.  
 
Staff also recommends that the regulations for the TL 4A zone include an 
exemption from the requirement for commercial use on the ground floor 
for the one parcel discussed above (former Office Max site) that has very 

 

13



14 
 

limited visibility and access.  The regulation would be similar to the 
approach that is used for similar properties in the TL 8 zone. 
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - Ground floor 
commercial: 
 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendations? 
 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 

recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 
 

4. Expansion of Allowed Uses to Include Residential Suites (TL 10C 
and TL 10D and TL 4B) 

 
Issue:  Pages 6-7 of the staff memorandum prepared for the Planning 
Commission study session on April 26, 2018 provide background 
information about Residential Suites in Totem Lake.  As noted in the 
memo, amendments to the Zoning Code adopted in December of 2017 
included the addition of Residential Suites to the list of permitted uses in 
many zones in the core of Totem Lake (see Attachment 16).  The use 
was added to areas defined as "Commercial Zones," but not to those 
defined as "Office Zones".  The Residential Suites use was also not added 
to the TL 4B zone, due to the area’s distance from frequent transit 
service. 
 
The current set of potential amendments to the Zoning Code 
contemplates adding the Residential Suites use to the areas defined as 
Housing Incentive Areas within the TL 10C and TL 10D zones (both 
locations of Housing Incentive Area 4) south of NE 116th Street.  These 
areas already allow Attached or Stacked Dwelling Units use.  Staff has 
suggested that the TL 4B zone be included with this set of zones for 
consideration.   
 
The key difference between the Residential Suites use and the Attached 
or Stacked Dwelling Units use is the difference in parking requirements.  
In other zones which allow residential suites, the parking requirement is 
0.5 stall per unit, when parking is managed.  No parking stalls for guests 
are required.  Standards for parking management require that the 
property owner develop a Transportation Management Plan (TMP) for the 
property, to include charging for on-site parking, bus passes (or 
equivalent) for tenants without cars, designation of a Transportation 
Coordinator to manage the TMP, monitoring of parking performance and 
a variety of other standards.  If the demand for parking is found to 
exceed the supply, the property owner may be required to restrict 
occupancy or limit occupancy to tenants without cars. 
 
The parking requirement for typical multifamily development (Attached or 
Stacked Dwelling Units) is as follows:  1.2 stalls/studio unit, 1.3 stalls/1 
bedroom unit, 1.6 stalls/2 bedroom unit, and 1.8 stalls/3 bedroom unit.  

14

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Planning+Commission/Totem+Lake+Amendments+Staff+Memo+with+Attachment+-+CAM18-00196.pdf
http://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/?KirklandZ05/KirklandZ05.html#5.10.145
http://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/?KirklandZ05/KirklandZ05.html#5.10.595
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kirkland/html/KirklandZ180/KirklandZ180.html#Plate37


15 
 

Additional parking stalls are required to be provided for guests, at a rate 
of 10 percent above the total number of stalls required for the 
development.   
 
While residential suites have been successful in Kirkland’s downtown and 
in other eastside cities where they have been located in close proximity to 
transit and goods and services, they have not yet been built in areas with 
conditions similar to those that exist in the “Parmac” (TL 10C/D) area.  At 
the meeting in April, the Planning Commission asked staff to solicit input 
from ARCH regarding the suitability of the study areas for residential 
suites.  Specifically, members of the Commission asked for input related 
to parking, housing affordability, and whether residential suites typically 
provide housing for seniors.  Arthur Sullivan from ARCH prepared a memo 
which includes an analysis of these issues (see Attachment 17).   
 
In summary, ARCH noted the following: 
 

 Residential suites located in downtown areas appear to manage 
parking well.  Residential suites projects studied have high walk 
scores (85-93, considered “very walkable”, according to the Walk 
Score methodology) and relatively high transit scores (50-60, 
considered “good transit”, according to the methodology). 

 Locational considerations and the ability of residents to avoid car 
ownership may be issues in the TL 10C and TL 10D areas, where 
walk scores are lower (45 in TL 10C and 35 in TL 10D, considered 
“car-dependent”), and fairly low transit scores (33-35, considered 
“some transit”).  No new transit routes are planned for the area 
south of NE 116th Street.  The TL 10C zone has better access to 
transit east of I-405 on 124th Avenue NE and is closer to retail 
uses. 

 Very limited on street parking exists within the immediate vicinity 
of the Housing Incentive Areas within the TL 10C and TL 10D 
zones.  On-street parking areas that exist within ¼-½ mile are 
located on single family cul-de-sacs and on “private” commercial 
use roads.   

 Residential suites provide affordable housing.  Rents are generally 
affordable at less than 80% of median income and typically 
around 60% of median income.  The ARCH memo notes that as 
the affordable units are not regulated, the affordability of the 
units may tend to diminish over time, particularly at a time when 
the demand for housing of all types outpaces supply.  The memo 
notes that in Redmond, developers of residential suites are 
required to provide 10% of the units as affordable at 50% of 
median income, which will preserve affordability over time.  

 
Robert Pantley of Natural and Built Environments reports that close to 10 
percent of the residents in its communities are seniors over 55 years of 
age.  Information regarding seniors residing at the properties not owned 

15



16 
 

by Natural and Built Environments was not available.   
 

For the TL 4B zone included in this analysis, staff found the following: 
 

 The walk scores within this zone are somewhat higher, ranging 
from 49 (“car dependent”) at the south end of the zone where the 
Fred Meyer store is located, to 58 (“somewhat walkable”) at the 
Wendy’s restaurant at the north end.   

 The transit scores for the TL 4B zone are also higher, ranging 
from 41-47, although still within the “some transit” category. 

 On-street parking opportunities are also very limited for 
development in this zone. 

 
Another resource to consider in evaluating the suitability of these zones 
for residential suites use is the 10 Minute Neighborhood Analysis.  A “10 
minute neighborhood” is a community where residents can walk short 
distances from home to destinations that meet their daily needs.  
Attachment 18 provides the “heat map” from this analysis, which 
indicates how well the TL 4B and TL 10C/D study areas fare in terms of 
providing for daily needs within a walkable (1/2 mile) distance.  Using this 
approach, the southern end of the TL 4B zone produces a mid-low 
walkability score, while the north end of the zone closest to NE 124th 
Street produces a mid-high score.  The TL 10C/D zones, however, 
produce low walkability scores.   
 
Staff Recommendation: The memorandum from ARCH notes that the City 
has used the same parking requirements for affordable housing that it 
uses for market rate residential development.  As with market rate 
development, affordable housing projects have the option to provide a 
parking study that evaluates unique circumstances (such as location, 
types of households, etc.) to determine the appropriate requirements for 
each property.   
 
The memo suggests that given the challenges to walking to services and 
transit in the TL 10C/D areas, the use of the standard multifamily parking 
ratios, with the option to provide a parking study, may be appropriate for 
the Residential Suites use in these zones.  
 
Staff does not recommend adding the Residential Suites use to the TL 4B, 
TL 10C and TL 10D zones, due to the relatively limited access to transit 
and goods and services (particularly in the TL 10C and TL 10D zones), 
and the lack of on-street parking.  If the Planning Commission elects to 
expand the use to any of these zones, staff agrees with the ARCH 
suggestion, and recommends that the standard multifamily parking ratios 
be applied to the Residential Suites use. 
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - Expansion of 
Residential Suites use to TL 4B, TL 10C and TL 10D: 

16

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/depart/planning/Topics/10_Minute_Neighborhood_Analysis.htm


17 
 

 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendation? 
 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 

recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 
 

C. Revisions to implement Totem Lake Enhancement and Multimodal 
Transportation Network Plan (Zoning Code) 
 
As discussed in the staff memorandum prepared for the April meeting, a variety 
of amendments to the Zoning Code, Totem Lake design guidelines and Pre-
Approved Plans are necessary to implement the recommendations of the Totem 
Lake Enhancement and Multimodal Transportation Network Plan (referred to 
below as the “Enhancement Plan”).  The City Council approved Resolution R-
5316 on May 15, 2018, adopting the Enhancement Plan.  Proposed amendments 
to the Zoning Code are provided in this staff memorandum.  Changes to the 
design guidelines will be presented to the Planning Commission at a subsequent 
meeting in October.  Changes to the City’s Pre-Approved Plans are handled on an 
annual basis by the Public Works Department. 
 
Zoning Code 
 

1. Clarification of Standards for Pedestrian-Oriented Space (TL 
1A/B) 
 

Issue:  As part of the set of placemaking enhancement recommendations, 
the Enhancement Plan recommends that private developments provide: 
 
“. . . publicly accessible spaces at their primary frontage which 
contributes to the character and quality of the community.  These spaces 
shall have no dimension less than 15 feet and occupy approximately 20% 
of the lot frontage.  Successful small “mini” public spaces should typically 
range from 500 square feet to 1,000 square feet.  Larger pocket park and 
plaza spaces associated with larger residential or commercial 
developments should range from 1,500-2,000 square feet.”   
 
A requirement for this type of space already exists within the TL 1A and 
TL 1B zones which calls for “the development of pedestrian-oriented 
elements that exceed the requirements of KZC 92.15 and Chapter 105 
KZC.  Examples include pedestrian walkways through the subject 
property, public plazas, public art and fountains”.  The current 
requirement has been challenging for both staff and the development 
community, in that it does not provide clarity as to the expectations in 
terms of square footage to be devoted to the space. 
 
Two projects proposed for NE 128th Street in TL 1A have been designed 
to provide the required public space under the existing provisions.  
Although the developments will provide 134 and 339 dwelling units, the 
vague language has resulted in proposed public spaces that are relatively 

17

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Planning+Commission/Totem+Lake+Amendments+Staff+Memo+with+Attachment+-+CAM18-00196.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf


18 
 

small, each less than 600 square feet.  These spaces do not fully meet 
the objectives of creating meaningful public gathering spaces through 
increased public amenities, enhanced sidewalk zones and urban plaza 
spaces. 
 
The Placemaking Enhancements map from the Enhancement Plan (see 
Attachment 19) indicates areas where placemaking efforts are important 
along the street network. 

 
Staff recommendation:  Staff recommends that the approach to the 
requirement for public space within new developments in the TL 1A and 
TL 1B zones be revised as recommended in the Enhancement Plan.  The 
new approach will remove the ambiguity in the existing regulations, and 
help the City and developers understand what is desired. 
 
Proposed amendments to Sections 55.09 and 55.15 are shown in 
Attachment 20.  The revisions provide a range for the area of public 
space to be provided, with modifications to be allowed through the 
design review process. 
 
As noted in Attachment 20, staff also recommends that new text be 
added to the Totem Lake design guidelines to provide more specific 
direction for the elements to be included within the public space.  The 
guideline would state: “Examples include a combination of 
pedestrian/multi-use paths through the subject property, public plazas, 
public art and water features”.  In addition, the City Attorney 
recommends that the public space on private property be placed in a 
“Public Access Easement”. 
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - Clarification of 
standards for pedestrian-oriented space in the TL 1A and TL 1B: 
 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendation? 
 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 

recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 
 

2. New Regulations for Pedestrian-Oriented Space (TL 4B, TL 6A/B, 
TL 10B ) 
 

Issue:  As shown on the Placemaking Enhancements map (Attachment 
19), additional public space is desired in developments along streets and 
in gathering spaces within the TL 4B, TL 6A, TL 6B and TL 10B zones 
(see zoning map, Attachment 15).  These zones do not have an existing 
requirement for public space.  Adding a similar regulation to these zones 
will enable development in these areas to build upon the pedestrian, bike 
and vehicular networks to create public spaces and amenities along the 
existing and new streets. 
 

18



19 
 

In order to avoid adding a regulation for public space where no new 
development capacity is provided, this regulation should only be added to 
zones where additional height is supported, as discussed in Sections B.1 
and B.2 of this memorandum. 
 
Staff recommendation:  Staff recommends that a regulation for public 
space with similar standards to those proposed for the TL 1A and TL 1B 
zones be added to the TL 4B, TL 6A/B and TL 10B zones, if additional 
height is supported for those zones in other amendments. 
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - Addition of regulations 
for pedestrian-oriented space in the TL 4B, TL 6A/B and TL 10B 
zones: 
 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendation? 
 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 

recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 
 

3. New Standards for Streets in Totem Lake (Multiple Zones) 
 

Issue:  The Totem Lake Enhancement and Multimodal Transportation 
Network Plan provides recommendations for improvements to each of the 
networks: bicycle, pedestrian and vehicular.  The recommendations 
include specific dimensions and amenities for select street concepts.  
While many of these concepts will be implemented through the Public 
Works process of revisions to Pre-Approved Plans, others will require 
changes to the Zoning Code.  The proposed changes are summarized 
below: 
 

 Section 110.40:  Addition of new type of collector street, called 
the “Residential Commercial” collector street (see Attachment 21). 

 

 Chapter 180 (Plates):  Revisions to Plates to: 
o Create new Plate 34A (see Attachment 22), to consolidate 

information from Plates 34A, 34B, 34F and 34G onto one 
plate (see Attachment 3). 

o Retain 34D, but rename as 34B (see Attachment 23). 
o Revise 34E, but rename as 34C (see Attachment 14). 
o Relocate conceptual information from Plates 34F and 34G 

to Totem Lake design guidelines. 
 
Staff recommendation:  Staff recommends that the proposed 
amendments be made to implement the recommendations of the 
Enhancement Plan. 
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - New standards for 
streets in Totem Lake: 
 

19

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf
https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf


20 
 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendation? 
 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 

recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 
 

4. Add new regulation for 120th Avenue NE “Hill climb” (TL 3) 
 

Issue:  A key recommendation for placemaking in Totem Lake from the 
Enhancement Plan is the development of a linear park along 120th Avenue 
NE.  The “hill climb” would encourage movement between the Village at 
Totem Lake, the Totem Lake Transit Center and the Evergreen Health 
campus.  The hill climb would also provide a more comfortable and 
interesting connection for pedestrians to points farther away, including 
the Kingsgate neighborhood to the north, the flyer stop and future Bus 
Rapid Transit stop to the east, the Kingsgate Park and Ride to the 
northeast, and the park at Totem Lake to the south.  Pages 78-81 of the 
Totem Lake Enhancement and Multimodal Transportation Network Plan 
provide more information and a conceptual illustration for the hill climb. 
 
Staff has contacted representatives at Evergreen Health to discuss the 
recommendation for the hill climb.  Since the improvements would likely 
be located entirely on property owned by Evergreen, the participation of 
the hospital in providing an easement, and possibly improvements, will be 
important.  Ty Heim, Executive Director of Design, Construction and 
Facilities Services may attend the Planning Commission meeting on 
September 27 to respond to questions and provide an initial response 
regarding the hill climb concept. 
 
Staff recommendation:  Staff recommends that the standards for the 
Evergreen Health hospital campus (TL 3 zone) be amended to include a 
requirement for some level of participation in ensuring that the hill climb 
may be provided in the future.  The standards could be designed to be 
related to additional growth at the campus, which would bring a greater 
number of pedestrians to the area. 
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - New regulation for 
120th Avenue NE hill climb: 
 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendation? 
 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 

recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 
 
Comprehensive Plan 

 
1. Revisions to Figures (Figures TL 6 and TL 10) 

 
Several changes to figures in the Comprehensive Plan are needed to 
implement the recommendations of the Enhancement Plan.  The 
proposed changes are summarized below: 

20

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf


21 
 

 

 Figure TL-6:  The map should be revised to reflect the completion 
of 118th Avenue NE, as discussed above.  Changes to 
acknowledge the new Residential Commercial collector streets 
throughout the district should also be made (see Attachment 24).  

 Figure TL-10:  This map should be revised to correct the 
alignment of the Circulator to show that the eastern leg follows 
124th Avenue NE.  The new recommendations for gateways 
identified on page 59 of the Enhancement Plan should also be 
added to the map (see Attachment 25).   

 
Staff recommendation:  Staff recommends that the proposed 
amendments be made to implement the recommendations of the 
Enhancement Plan. 
 
Questions for the Planning Commission - Revisions to 
Comprehensive Plan figures: 
 

 Does the Commission agree with the staff recommendation? 

 Does the Commission have direction for changes to the 
recommendations that would be considered at the public hearing? 

 
Attachments 
 

1. Study Scope – Proposed amendments 
2. KZC, TL 10B – General regulations 
3. KZC, Chapter 180 – Summary of proposed amendments to plates 
4. KZC, Chapter 55, TL 4,5,6 – proposed amendments to general regulations 
5. KZC, Chapter 92, proposed amendments for blank walls along CKC and ERC 
6. Comprehensive Plan, Totem Lake Business District Chapter, proposed text 

amendment – 118th Ave NE 
7. Comment letter from Doug Waddell, February 6, 2018 
8. Comment letter - from John C. McCullough, July 6, 2018 
9. Comment letter from Jim Gallaugher, July 13, 2018 
10. Photographs submitted for Lee Johnson – 75 foot height examples 
11. Comment from Doug Waddell, August 6, 2018 
12. ARCH Comments – 75 foot building height 
13. Table – commercial ground floor use comparison 
14. KZC, Chapter 180 – Plate 34C 
15. Totem Lake Zoning Map 
16. Totem Lake zones allowing Residential Suites use 
17. ARCH Comments – Residential Suites 
18. 10 Minute Neighborhood Heat Map 
19. Totem Lake Urban Center Enhancement & Multimodal Transportation Network 

Plan, Placemaking Enhancements map 
20. KZC, Chapter 55, TL 1A/B – proposed amendments for public space 
21. KZC, Chapter 110, proposed revisions for Residential Commercial Collector Street 
22. KZC, Chapter 180 – Plate 34A 

21

https://www.kirklandwa.gov/Assets/Planning/Planning+PDFs/Totem+Lake+Urban+Center+Multimodal+Transportation+Plan.pdf


22 
 

23. KZC, Chapter 180 – Plate 34B 
24. Comprehensive Plan, Totem Lake Business District Chapter, proposed revised 

Figure TL-6: Planned Streets and Possible New Connections 
25. Comprehensive Plan, Totem Lake Business District Chapter, proposed revised 

Figure TL-10: Totem Lake Urban Design 
 
 
 
cc: Doug Waddell, doug@waddellpropertiesinc.com  
 Robert Pantley, robert@pantley.com 

Ty Heim, tmheim@evergreenhealthcare.org 
Arthur Sullivan, asullivan@bellevuewa.gov 
Michael Stanger, mstanger@bellevuewa.gov 

 
 

22

mailto:doug@waddellpropertiesinc.com
mailto:robert@pantley.com
mailto:tmheim@evergreenhealthcare.org
mailto:asullivan@bellevuewa.gov
mailto:mstanger@bellevuewa.gov


o

Attachment 1

23



Attachment 1

24



Attachment 1

25



Attachment 1

26



o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

Attachment 1

27



o

o

o

o

Attachment 1

28



o

Attachment 1

29



o

Attachment 1

30



o

o

o

Attachment 1

31



Attachment 1

32



Attachment 1

33



Attachment 1

34



O

Attachment 1

35



o

o

o

o

o

o

Attachment 1

36



Attachment 1

37



Attachment 1

38



Attachment 2

39



Attachment 2

40



 
Chapter 180 

Summary of Amendments to Plates 
 
 
1. Consolidate Plates 34A, B, F and G into one map for Residential/Commercial Collector Streets 

– See revised plate 34A – Totem Lake Business District Street Improvements, and clarifications 
to concepts for 34F and 34G in Totem Lake design guidelines. 

 

 
 

Attachment 3

41



 
  

Attachment 3

42



 
  

Attachment 3

43



 
  

Attachment 3

44



2. Eliminate Plate 34C.  118th Avenue NE is now under construction, associated with 
development of Lifebridge project in TL 10B.  

 

 
 
 

  

Attachment 3

45



3. Retain Plate 34D, but renumber to 34B 
 

 
  

34B 

Attachment 3

46



4. Retain Plate 34E, but renumber to 34C 
 

 

34C 

Attachment 3

47

Plate 3~n Circulation in Totem Lake 

c:::J &usr~ess Di~lritl Sot.~ndanH 
c::J TotMt Lab uroan Center 

'"''' M;tjor Pedestrian SidC'I\<tlj/; 

=-::.:. PCde~ttl'lan-Orientt-d Sli't-C-t 

- - · Cron.-Kifcland ComCior-

IQ SHARE 



Attachment 3

48



Attachment 4

49



Attachment 4

50



Attachment 4

51



Attachment 4

52



Attachment 4

53



Attachment 4

54



Amendments to Section 92.15.3.b
 
 

3.  Blank Wall Treatment

a. Blank Wall Defined – All Zones – A blank wall is any wall or portion of a wall 
that meets either of the following criteria (see Figure 92.15.C): 

1) A wall or portion of a wall with a surface area of at least 400 
square feet having both a length and a width of at least 10 feet without a 
window, door, building modulation at least one (1) foot in depth or other 
architectural feature.

2) Any wall or portion of a wall between four (4) feet and 13 feet 
above ground level with a horizontal dimension longer than 15 feet 
without a window, door, building modulation at least one (1) foot in depth 
or other architectural feature.

b. Blank Wall Treatments – All Zones – Each blank wall that is visible from any 
right-of-way, internal access road, pedestrian-oriented space, or through-block 
pathway, the Cross Kirkland Corridor or the Eastside Rail Corridor must be 
screened or treated in at least one (1) of the ways listed in subsection (3)(c) of this 
section if it meets the criteria for a blank wall under subsection (3)(a) of this 
section. Internal roadways used primarily for service access and not visible from a 
street, pedestrian-oriented space or through-block pathways, the Cross Kirkland 
Corridor or the Eastside Rail Corridor are exempt from this requirement. 

c. Blank Wall Treatment Standards in All Zones – At least one (1) of the following 
techniques must be used to treat or screen blank walls: 

1) By the installation of a vertical trellis with climbing vines or plant 
material in front of the blank wall.

2) By providing a landscaped planting bed at least five (5) feet wide 
or a raised planter bed at least two (2) feet high and three (3) feet 
wide in front of the blank wall and planted with plant materials that 
will obscure or screen at least 50 percent of the blank wall within 
two (2) years.

3) By providing artwork, such as mosaics, murals, sculptures or bas-
relief on the blank wall. 

4) By proposing alternative techniques as part of the Design Review 
process.

Attachment 5

55



Attachment 5

56



Comprehensive Plan 
Totem Lake Business District 

Western Mixed Use Subarea 

 

The Western Mixed Use Subarea contains a wide range of uses and activities. The Kirkland 
Justice Center, providing police and court services, is located here, just west of the general retail 
area along 120th Avenue NE, and just east of the large 405 Corporate Center, where much of the 
subarea’s office and some flex industrial space is located. A mix of community 
recreational/cultural uses are clustered in the TL 10B zone at the southern end of the subarea. 
North of NE 124th Street lies the Totem Lake West shopping center and the Kingsgate Park and 
Ride lot. Medium density multifamily residential development remains at the subarea’s western 
boundary. 

Within the southern upland portion of the Heronfield Wetlands Open Space, community 
members built and operate Jasper’s Dog Park, a two-acre, fenced site that provides an 
opportunity for dogs to play and socialize off-leash, and for citizens to visit and enjoy the natural 
setting. 

The wooded hillside located at the south end of the Western Mixed Use Subarea is designated as 
a medium landslide hazard area (see Figure TL-4). Development in this area should be subject to 
the following conditions: 

(1)    Lot coverage for development should be limited to ensure maximum preservation of 
existing vegetation. 

(2)    Heavily vegetated visual and noise buffering should be maintained or developed where 
buffers are needed either for residential use of this site, or from nonresidential use of this site to 
residential use on neighboring properties. 

(3)    Access to NE 116th Street should be limited due to the terrain and the desire to retain 
existing trees within the southern portion of the site.  

A desired new road connection would link NE 116th Street and NE 118th Street through this part 
of the subarea (see Figure TL-6), providing more direct access to the Kirkland Justice Center, the 
office park, and points to the north and west. 

Attachment 6

57



North of NE 124th Street and west of 116th Avenue NE lies the Totem Lake West shopping 
center. This retail center has the potential for redevelopment to include more intensive 
commercial development as well as upper story residential use. Design guidelines establish 
redevelopment of the center as a pedestrian-oriented village, with a centralized plaza surrounded 
by storefronts oriented to internal private or public streets. Residential and/or office uses would 
be located on upper floors, with residential uses clustered at the north end of the site overlooking 
the natural greenbelt area.  

 
 

Attachment 6

58



Attachment 7

59

February 6, 2018 

Kirkland City Council 
c/o Dorian Collins 

T 
WA DDELL 
PROPERTIES 
INCOkPOKAI EU 

City of Kirkland , Planning Department 
123 Fifth Ave. 
Kirkland , WA 98033 

Kirkland City Council: 

I am writing you to ask that you direct the planning department to look at updating the zoning 
code and guidelines for our property located at 12427 NE 124th Street, which is in the TL6A 
zone. There has been a recent interest in medical office however the height restrictions are 
actually 20 feet lower than stacked dwelling units. I am not really sure why that is, but I would 
request that the height restriction become consistent, at 65 feet, for apartments, office. hotel 
and assisted living/nursing home. 

In addition, numerous developers have looked at it from an apartment development 
standpoint, and all have of them have come back stating that the ground floor commercial 
requirements are too high for such a thoroughfare. I think it would make more SE!nse to let the 
amount of ground floor commercial be market driven versus code driven. In othE3r words, 
have the code make that an option but not a requirement. At the very least, the)r should 
reduce the amount that is required . 

Thank y u for your consideration. 

Doug Waddell 
President 

P.O Bo.t 2545 • Kirkland, WA 9808J 
425.822.3021 



Attachment 7

60



Attachment 8

61

McCuLLOUGH HILL LEARY, rs 

Joan Lieberman-Brill, AICP 
Senior Planner 
Plantl.ing & Building Department 
City of Kirkland 
123 5th Avenue 
Kirkland, Waslllngton 98033-6189 

July 6, 2018 

Re: Rose Hill Neighborhood Plan Update 

Dear Joan: 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 

We are writing on behalf of LMJ Enterprises, LP, owner of the property located at the southeast 
quadrant of the I-405 interchange at NE 85th Street (the "Property"). A vicinity map and relevant 
Property information are attached to this letter. The Property comprises zones 2A, 2B and 2C in 
the Rose Hill Business District in the Kirkland Zoning Code (the "Code"). 

Earlier this year, the City initiated a process to update the Rose Hill Neighborhood Plan, within 
which the Property is located. We are writing to request that as part of the Plan Update, the City 
consider certain changes to the Code to provide for some limited additional height and density for 
the Property; In addition, with the upcoming Sound Transit Rapid Ride station to be located at the 
adjacent interchange, we believe it is timely to consider a process for future transit-oriented 
development (TO D) of the Property. Our suggestions are set forth in the attached memorandum. 

The Property is uniquely located to support such potential redevelopment. It is located at the 
intersection of an interstate highway and a major arterial. The future Sound Transit facility will 
connect it direcdy to the regional high-capacity transit system. The Property is of sufficient size to 
accommodate a meaningful mixed-use development while at the same time providing appropriate 
scale transitions to neighboring sites to the south. 

As our regional light rail and high-capacity trmsit network builds out across the Puget Sound area, it 
is critical for cities to make smart use of well-located sites like this one to provide for future 
residential and job growth. Sites like this that can accommodate urban density need to be zoned for 
it, both to make good use of our investment in rail and to reduce redevelopment pressure on 

701 Fifth Avenue • Suite 6600 • Seattle, Washington 98104 • 206.812.3388 • Fax 206.812.3389 • www.mhseattle.com 



Attachment 8

62

July 6, 2018 
Page 2 of2 

valuable single-family neighborhoods. Once a site is redeveloped, it is removed from our land use 
inventory for generations. Thus, it is important to get the density equation right today. 

For this reason, we are making recommendations both for some modest immediate increases in 
height and density for the site, to bring those heights in line with prevailing development patterns on 
similar sites in the region. But we are also recommending adopting special overlay provisions that 
will create a process to consider an urban TOD proposal at this location, so that this potential 
opportunity is not lost. 

We appreciate your consideration of these suggestions and we look forward to participating in the 
Plan Update process in the months ahead. 

Sincerely, 

J-czdc r .. 

John C. McCullough 

JM:ldc 

cc: Tod Johnson 



LEE JOHNSON CHEVROLET PROPERTY 
Property Information 

 

Principal Address: 11845 NE 85th St, Kirkland, WA 98033 

Tax Parcel Nos.: 1233100200 
1233100198 
1233100190 
1233100145 
1233100141 
1233100197 
1233100080 
1233100075 
1233100151 
1233100150 
1233100155 
1233100161 
1233100161 
 

Vicinity Map: 
 

 

Attachment 8

63



Lee Johnson Chevrolet Property

Zoning Recommendations
July 2018

Key Site Characteristics

Large site adjacent to I-405

Limited land use compatibility issues

Superior access to I-405 and arterial system

Adjacent to future regional high-capacity transit station

Objectives

Implement transit-oriented development (TOD) zoning

Provide for short-term and long-term redevelopment options

Coordinate building heights with building code allowances for mixed-use projects

Proposal

1. Increase Heights Consistent with market and code allowances

Increase heights from 67’/45’/33’ (north/middle/south) to 75’ across entire site;

site planning can address transition issues

This height matches building code allowances.  75’ equates to “5 over 2” 

construction

5-over-2 multifamily projects (75’) are common in urban markets throughout 

the region

This height increase allows for more housing, more efficient development in 

the short term

2. Provide for TOD Overlay Zoning

Create a new overlay zone in the Code, available only for sites larger than 5 

acres, located on a major arterial within ¼ mile of a high-capacity transit 

station

Sites within the overlay can use existing zoning or opt to seek Master Plan 

approval under the overlay

Master Plan application would be reviewed by Planning Commission and City 

Council

Master Plan includes site plan, open space/landscaping plan, circulation plan, 

access plan, impact mitigation and phasing plan over 10 +/- years (long 

enough to accommodate more than one development cycle, in case a 

recession intervenes)

Attachment 8

64



TOD Overlay allows 160’ heights for residential (with floorplate size 

limitations) and 75’ for office/retail

Mix of uses would be determined by the market, but must include some 

neighborhood-serving retail uses

Final City Council approval is by Development Agreement

Attachment 8

65



Attachment 8

66



Attachment 9

67

July 13, 2018 

Janice Coogan 

City Planner 

141 Frorl Srree• Nnnlt 

l~s-3quol, WI\ ?8027 

City of Kirkland Planning and Building Department 

123 51h Ave 

Kirkland, WA 98033 

Dear Ms Coogan: 

T I 25 88QQ5()1 
www.rndgllc.nct 

We are writing to you as the developer of five parcels making up the RH 3 zone 

located at 12040 NE 851h Street. The King County parcel numbers for the 

property are as follows: 

1238500110 

1238500115 

1238500125 

1238500135 

1238500140 

This transit oriented development with be adjacent to the future 1-405 BRT 

station and will provide over 200,000 square feet of retail including grocery, drug 

store and fitness center. Above the retail and underground parking structure, 

there will be four 5-6 level residential buildings totaling approximately 740 

residential units with 10% being designated as affordable housing. 

The design team and ourselves are excited about our design for this project, and 

optimistic on how it will contribute to transforming the Rose Hill Corridor District 

into a vibrant 24-hour neighborhood. Our vision is not only to provide retail and 

restaurants, health club, and apartment homes, but to create a place where 

people will truly want to congregate, visit, and enjoy the public spaces. We 

envision a place for residents to meet friends and family, to enjoy the 

surroundings and services, and for visitors to enjoy the plazas and gardens. In 

addition to the public amenities at ground level, we plan to provide residential 

amenities on the rooftops. This will include exterior plazas with generous 

landscaping providing opportunities for casual seating and barbecues. To 

successfully provide these pedestrian public spaces as well as the rooftop 

amenities areas, the design team is proposing two zoning code amendments for 

the Rose Hill 3 zone. 

{03586460.000<;4 ) 



Attachment 9

68

July 13, 2018 

Page 2 

As part of the Rose Hill 3 Neighborhood Plan update process, we would like the 

City of Kirkland to consider the following code amendments to help achieve a 

vibrant urban mixed-use project: 

Increase lot Coverage of the RH3 Zone to 100% 

With the construction of the 1-405 BRT station at NE ssth St, we believe Kirkland 

will benefit from transit oriented developments such as ours. With almost 800 

residential units including low income housing, our Rose Hill development will 

bring urban density with retail anchors that can support the daily needs of its 

re.sidents and the surrounding communities. For providing this density, our 

project will be providing a large public plaza and vegetated hill climb to serve as a 

public gathering space. We believe these elements will be valuable public 

amenities and serve as the heart of this future urban neighborhood. 

Examples of higher density Include Tot em Lake, Yarrow Bay, and the Central 

Business District. In Totem Lake (TllB) lot coverage of 85% can be increased by 

providing superior landscaping on lower portions of structures or rooftop, visual 

and pedestrian access to public gardens, or other approaches that provide for 

usable green space (KMC SS.lS.OSO.S.b) . The Central Business District (COB 8) 

allows 100% lot coverage along Central Way. Here the stacked residential is 

supported by retail and restaurant attractions that will make this business 

corridor a highlight of Kirkland's urban living. lastly, Yarrow Bay (YBD 1) allows 

for 100% lot coverage next to the South Kirkland Park and Ride. Here Kirkland 

Crossing and Velocity Apartments create a high-density transit oriented 

development which provides the public with a landscaped plaza connection 

through the site. 

[ ncrease the Allowable Height Limit from 67' -0" to 75' -0" 

We QrOQOSe that the RH3 zoning regulations be modified to increase the overall 

building height bY. 8' -0" to allow for decorative para ets roof ~laza paving 

s stems, open railings, and landscaP.e planters. This increase to the allowable 

height would not increase the number of floors but instead allow for increased 

flexibility of architectural forms at the roof line. Roof modulation afforded by 

varY.ing parapet heights enhances the building elevations b suJ:morting the 

exterior design com~osition and providing visual interest from the surrounding 

communitY.. lastly, the gualit and feasibility of roof top amenity areas will be 

dependent upon design elements such as P.laza paving opening railings and 

P.lanters. Rooftop amenit'l areas will allow tenants to relax and barbeque in a 



Attachment 9

69

-

M 

s 
en 
0 
~ 

July 13, 2018 

Page 3 

Decrease the required parking for Residential 

is a hallmark of 

We propose that the RH3 zoning regulations be modified to decrease the parking 

requirements for mixed use developments containing multi-family residential use 

and retai l uses. The land-use portion of the Kirkland comprehensive plan lists the 

importance of new innovative developments and changing household needs. We 

believe there will be a major reduction in car ownership as a result of car sharing 

services and expanding mass transit. The proximity of the planned new 1-405 BRT 

station will provide a direct connection with downtown Bellevue which will make 

Seattle and other employment centers accessible via light rail. The BRT station 

makes our project a transit oriented development, and most all jurisdictions 

reduce the parking requirements for Transit oriented development. Specifically, 

the Kirkland comprehensive plan policy LU- 3.7 States that a reduction in parking 

requirements should be considered for walkable areas with convenient shops 

services and good transit service. The design team and project developer foresee 

the realistic parking demand to be lower than the parking requirements currently 

applicable to the RH3 zone. We have asked our traffic consultant to prepare a 

parking study that will forecast the parking demand for the RH3 zone. We will 

share that study w ith you as soon as it is finished. In the meantime, we request 

that you begin the amendment process holding open t he exact parking ratios t hat 

will apply to t he RH3 zone. 

We hope that the City of Kirkland will support these modifications to the RH3 

zon ing regulations. The proposed revisions are consistent with many of the 

policies in the Kirkland Comprehensive Plan related to Community Character, 

Climate Change, Land Use (especia lly Land Use/Transportation Linkages), and the 

NE 851
h St reet Subarea. Policy NEBS-3.5 provides for utilizing zoning incentives or 

other techniques to encourage commercial redevelopment in the Subarea. The 

requested amendments do precisely that as they will enable us to provide the 

City with a marquee project at the doorstep to its new rapid transit station. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Sincerely, 

c:_. __ ftr___. 
Jim Gallaugher 

Principal 

(03586460.DOCX;4 } 



Attachment 9

70

PROJECT 
SITE 

~' \ 
City ~lnlslr1es 

r 

ZONING CODE 

SECTION 53.32- GENERAL REGULATIONS 
l. Refer to Chapter 1 KZC to determine what other provisions of 

this code may apply to the subject property. 

2. Within required front yards. canopies and similar entry feoture.s 
may encroach; provided, that the total horizontal dimensions o f 
such elements may not exceed 25 percent of the length of the 
struclure. 

3. Individual retail uses in I his zone ore limited to a maximum gross 
floor area of 65,000 square feet. 

4. AI feast 50 percent of the to tal gross ftoor area located on the 
ground floor of all strvctures on lhe subject property must contain 
ret aD establishments. restaurants. tovems. hotels or motets. These 
uses shall be oriented to NE 85th Street, a major pedestrian side
walk. a through block pedestrian pathway or on internal pathway. 

5. The ground noor of all strvctures on the subject property shall 
be a minimum of 15 feet in height. This requirement does not apply 
Ia : 

a . The following uses: Vehicle service stoHons, automotive ser
vice cent om. private lodges or clubs. attached or stocked dwening 
units, churches, schools, day-core cente~. mini-schools or mini-day
core centoo, assisted living facilities. convalescent cente~ or nurs
Ing homes. public umHies. governmenl facilities or community 
foc~i~es. 

b. Parking Garages. 
c. Addilions to exisling nonconforming 

Development where the planning official determines if is not 
feasible. 

6. The PubUc Works Official shall approve the number, location 
and characteristics of driveways on NE 85th Street in accordance 
with the driveway and sight distance policies contained In the Pub
Be Works Pre-approved Plans manual. Taking Into consideration lhe 
chatocterislics of this corridor. the Public Works offic-Ial may: 

a. Require access from side streets; and/or 
b. Encourage properties to shore driveways. circuloHon and 

porlcing areas; and/or 
c . Restrict access to right tum In and out: or 
d. Prohibit access altogether along NE 851h Street. 

7. Some development slondords or design regula lions may be 
modified as port of the design review process. See Chapters 92 
and 142 KZC for requiremenls. 

8. Access for drive-through facilities must be approved by the 
Public Works official. See KZC l 05.96 for requirements. 

9. A through-block pedestrian pathway shall be ins! oiled pursuant 
to I he through-block polhway standards In KZC 1 05.19; see Plate 
34k: 

a . Along the north portion of the zone to make on eost-to
wesl pedestrian conneclion between !24th Avenue NE and 1201h 
Avenue NE as designated in the Comprehensive Plan; and 

b. Connecting the north end of the zone to NE 85th Street. 

10. For lighting requirements associated wilh developmenl, see 
KZC l t5.85(2) . 

ZONING ANALYSIS 



Attachment 9

71

0 U-Haul 

0 Cost co 

0 76 Gas Station 

0 Avio Office Building 

0 Arris Building 

0 Mercury's Coffee 

0 Rose Hill Plaza 

0 McDonalds 

0 Honda of Kirkland 

ca Taco Time 
G) Starbucl<s 
f) Walgreens 

~ Safeway 
4) Lee Johnson Mazda 

48 Kirkland Retail & Car Center 

m Kirkland Court 

«» Jiffy Lube 

CD Jonesco Business Pari< 

~ Rose Hill Presbyterian Church 

Transit 

• Kirkland Way Pari< & Ride - Primary Transit Network 

Secondary Transit Network 

II II Planned Bus Rapid Transit Route 

• Bus Stop 

~ \ 
,.___A 

SITE ANALYSIS 



U-HAUL

Attachment 9

72



Examples of 75-foot mixed use apartment buildings 

 

AXLE APARTMENTS 
Interbay, Seattle 
Lennar Multifamily 

 

 

THE WHITAKER APARTMENTS 
West Seattle 
Lennar Multifamily Communities 

 

Attachment 10

73



AVA CAPITOL HILL 
Capitol Hill, Seattle 
AvalonBay Communities 

 

MODERA CAPITOL HILL 
Capitol Hill, Seattle 
Mill Creek Residential 

 

Attachment 10

74



SPRING DISTRICT APARTMENTS 
Bellevue, Washington 
Security Properties 

 

MODA APARTMENTS 
Belltown, Seattle 
Equity Residential 

 

Attachment 10

75



Attachment 10

76



Attachment 11

77



Attachment 11

78



COMMENTS FROM ARCH 
SEPTEMBER, 2018 
 
Increased Building Height Totem Lake  
 
It has been suggested to increase building heights in Totem Lake to 75’ (most are 65’ now) to allow for 
two-story podiums with five stories of wood frame construction above.  City staff has heard from a large 
property owner who says this is becoming a common construction type.  One question is if the city 
should consider adding an incremental increase in the required set aside for affordable housing beyond 
the current 10% set aside (e.g. Increase affordability requirement to 12% or some other percentage).   
 
Based on a more straightforward analysis of land costs. potential increased development capacity and 
reduced cash flow associated with affordable units, it could be reasonable to increase the affordability 
level to 11.5% of the total units for those zones where the allowed height is increased from 65 feet to 75 
feet.   
 
However, following are several considerations that have come to mind in trying to address the question 
of required affordability levels related to increasing heights from 65 feet to 75 feet.  After reviewing this 
material, it may be helpful to have a discussion with City staff to see if there are any follow up questions, 
or consensus by staff on how to proceed.  
 
What is it the potential impact of this change in terms of type of building and to some degree are the 
value of increased height offset by these factors?   

• How will the two story podium be used? 
o Parking, commercial/office or residential?   

• If some of the podium is being used for parking (i.e. bringing it out of the ground) is the 
purpose to reduce development cost, and/or to create ‘flexible parking space’ that could be 
converted to other use in the future depending on future parking demand?  

• Hard to fully assess the economic benefit based on the uses listed above  
o Will the extra height be used for the purpose of providing more residential, or other 

uses? 
o Even if used for residential purposes, the cost of the extra floor (podium), is likely to 

be more expensive than wood frame.  However, rents achieved for that space will 
likely be similar to the rest of the building.  

• Is there any discussion in the industry of trying to move to 6 story wood frame construction?   
o If so, it helps to offset potential additional cost of an extra podium level in a ‘5-2’ 

configuration.   
 

These factors potentially impact an economic analysis of the benefit of allowing additional height 
and could justify not increasing the affordability levels from current levels.    

 
What consideration should be given to the variety of zoning districts within the Totem Lake area and 
current practice related to allowed development and required affordability?   

There are approximately 24 distinct zoning districts within Totem Lake.  It appears this policy could 
apply to 5 or 6 of these districts (4A, 4B, 4C, 6A, 6B, 10B).  There are a variety of other circumstances 
in other zones: 

Attachment 12

79



• There are several districts that do not include residential use (3, 10A).  It is assumed there is 
no discussion of allowing residential use in these zones.  If that is being discussed, there 
should be consideration of adding an affordable housing requirement 

• There are several districts that already allow residential heights at 75 feet or higher (7A, 
10D, 10E 

o Note, Zone 10D allows 80’ if along the Cross Kirkland Corridor, and otherwise 65’.  
However, there is also a limitation of 30’ height when adjoining residential zones, 
and that portion of the zone that is not along the Corridor, appears to be adjacent 
to residential zones.  

• There is one zone (TL 2), that allows height in excess of 75 feet, and has no affordability 
requirement. 

• There are several districts where the maximum (residential) height is less than 65 feet, so 
assume in those areas there are other considerations limiting height, and thus would not be 
considered for an increase to 75 feet. (7B, 9B, 11) 

 
Given this circumstance, another potential consideration is current practice in other Totem Lake 
zones.  Most notably, in those districts that currently allow heights greater than 75 feet, the 
affordability requirement is still 10% of the total units.  Therefore, it could be more difficult to argue 
(or to explain later), why some areas of Totem Lake with the same height limits, have a higher 
affordability requirement.  This would be less of a consideration if there was more uniform existing 
zoning across the entire neighborhood and all areas were receiving a similar benefit. 

 
Based on a recent analysis of the Multifamily Property Tax Exemption for two current projects in Totem 
Lake, it appears some actual land sales appear to be at a higher cost as mathematical models would 
expect (e.g. land values on a per unit basis feel relatively high if based on the base density and 
affordability requirements).  This is not necessarily shocking given all the variable that can go into 
establishing land prices for individual transactions.  While the zoning requirements are known to 
developers when they are negotiating land prices, other factors such as competing against other 
allowed uses may have some impact on prices paid and thus being able to use the full potential value of 
the city’s zoning incentives to help offset the costs of extra affordability requirements. 
 
Finally, if a project elects not to use the extra height, it would be required to provide an increased level 
of affordability than is currently required.   

Attachment 12

80



 

City 
Mixed-Use 

Ground Floor Requirements12 Objectives 
 
Kirkland   

CBD 1A, 1B  
 

Street level uses:  retail, restaurant/tavern, bank, 
entertainment/cultural/recreation 
≥20 foot depth and average depth of at least 30’ 
Street level office use ok south of 2nd Ave S. 

Active 
pedestrian 
environment 
Lively 
streetscape in 
some areas. 

CBD 2,3,7,8  Street level uses generally as above, however other uses 
allowed if there is a retail space extending a min of 30’ 
between this use and the abutting r-o-w. 
Other street level uses generally allowed on streets not 
designated as pedestrian-oriented streets.  

Active 
pedestrian 
environment 
Lively 
streetscape in 
some areas. 

BN, BNA Street level uses:  retail, restaurant, entertainment, 
office, and must be oriented toward fronting or arterial 
street. 
>20 foot depth and average depth of at least 30’. 
Residential use allowed behind commercial frontage. 

Lively street- 
scape 

BC ≥75% of total gross floor area located on ground floor of 
all structures must contain retail, restaurants, hotels, or 
office. 
Uses must be oriented to arterial major ped sidewalk, 
through block ped pathway or internal pathway. 

Retention of 
commercial 
use 
Lively 
streetscape 

BC 1, BC 2 Commercial use with gross floor area on the ground 
floor must be ≥25% of area of subject property. 
Commercial use must be oriented to adjoining arterial 
Residential uses may be on ground floor if intervening 
commercial use exists, with a depth of at least 20’ in 
depth 

Lively 
streetscape 

RH 5A, 5B  At least 50% of gross floor area on ground floor must 
contain retail, restaurant/tavern, hotels, etc.  
General regulation requires ground floor uses to orient 
to NE 85th Street, major ped sidewalk, through-block 
ped pathway, or an internal pathway. 

Retention of 
commercial 
use 
Lively 
streetscape 

FHNC  Uses on street level floor (term used here and in some 
CBD zones) of all buildings limited to retail, 
restaurant/tavern, entertainment/cultural/recreation or 

Lively 
streetscape  

                                                           
1 Lists of uses and conditions may be slightly abbreviated.  For complete list of uses and conditions in each zone, 
click on links provided. 
2 Requirements in many zones provide opportunities for the Design Review Board (or Planning Director, if not 
subject to DR) to approve minor reductions or modifications to standards. 

Attachment 13

81



office.  Other uses allowed when an intervening 
commercial frontage exists between the street and the 
other use, and  

o Ground floor uses must be oriented to fronting 
streets and have a  minimum depth of 20’ and 
an average depth of at least 30’ 

o Commercial floor to be minimum of 15’ in 
height Lobbies allowed within commercial 
frontage if less than 20% of building’s linear 
commercial frontage on street. 

HENC 1, 3 ≥75% of gross floor area on ground floor of all 
structures must contain retail, restaurant/tavern, hotel 
or office.  These uses must be oriented to a ped-
oriented street, major ped sidewalk, through block 
pathway or the CKC. 
If structure is over 35’ in height, commercial floor must 
be at least 13’ in height. 

Retention of 
commercial 
use 
Lively 
streetscape 

TL 4A,4B,4C  Attached or Stacked Dwelling Units use (and Residential 
Suites in TL 4A):  Gross floor area of commercial use on 
ground floor must be ≥20% of the area of the subject 
property. 
General regulation requires ground floor spaces with 
frontage on a public r-o-w, interior access road, major 
ped sidewalk, through-block ped pathway, internal 
pathway or ped-oriented space to be designed in a 
configuration which encourages pedestrian activity and 
visual interest. (Staff notes is vague.  These issues are 
addressed in Chapter 92 (design regulations) and design 
guidelines). Ground floor of all structures with frontage 
on a pedestrian or vehicular circulation route (not 
defined) or adjacent to a pedestrian-oriented space 
must be a minimum of 13’ in height. 

Retention of 
commercial 
use 
Lively 
streetscape 

TL 5 Master Plan requirements:  Gross floor area of 
commercial use on the ground floor must be ≥20% of 
the area of the subject property. 
General regulation requires ground floor spaces with 
frontage on a public r-o-w, interior access road, major 
ped sidewalk, through-block ped pathway, internal 
pathway or ped-oriented space to be designed in a 
configuration which encourages pedestrian activity and 
visual interest. (Staff notes is vague.  These issues are 
addressed in Chapter 92 (design regulations) and design 
guidelines). 
Ground floor of all structures with frontage on a 
pedestrian or vehicular circulation route (not defined) or 
adjacent to a pedestrian-oriented space must be a 
minimum of 13’ in height. 

Retention of 
commercial 
use 
Lively 
streetscape 

Attachment 13

82



TL 6A, 6B Attached or Stacked Dwelling Units and Residential 
Suites:  Gross floor area of commercial use on the 
ground floor must be ≥20% of the area of the subject 
property. 
TL 6B:  Ground floor spaces in structures with frontage 
on a public r-o-w, interior access road, major ped 
sidewalk, through block ped pathway or ped-oriented 
space must be designed in a configuration which 
encourages pedestrian activity and visual interest. (Staff 
notes is vague.  These issues are addressed in Chapter 
92 (design regulations) and design guidelines). 
Ground floor of all structures with frontage on a 
pedestrian or vehicular circulation route (not defined) or 
adjacent to a pedestrian-oriented space must be a 
minimum of 13’ in height. 

Retention of 
commercial 
use 
Lively 
streetscape 

TL 7A  Mixed Use Containing Attached or Stacked Dwelling 
Units:  Gross floor area of commercial use on the 
ground floor must be ≥20% of the area of the subject 
property. 
Ground floor of structures must be a minimum of 13’ in 
height. 
Residential use may not be located on the ground floor 
unless there is an intervening commercial use with a 
minimum depth of 20 feet. 

Retention of 
commercial 
use 
 

OTHER JURISDICTIONS 
Redmond  

Overlake  Residential not allowed on ground floor (on 
defined/mapped “Retail” streets).  Some lobby area ok 
(TBD) 
Where “Pedestrian-Oriented Use” requirement applies:  
≥50% of linear sidewalk-level façade must be occupied 
by ped-oriented uses and shall be continuous and up to 
50% of linear sidewalk-level frontage may be designed 
to accommodate future conversion to ped-oriented 
uses. Any uses other than residential may be permitted 
until conversion of the space. 
Goal to ensure space is suitable for commercial/retail 
use in the future even if not viable now 

Downtown  Residential not allowed on ground floor (on 
defined/mapped streets – Type I ped streets) OK on 
Type 2 ped streets.  Some lobby area ok (TBD) 
Ground floor uses are negotiated through permit/design 
process.  May allow some residential depending on 
street. 
Goal to ensure space is suitable for commercial/retail 
use in the future even if not viable now 

Attachment 13

83



Parking must be behind:

 
Bellevue  

BelRed Ground floor retail required in some areas (includes 
eating/drinking, merchandise sales, personal services 

o Continuous retail storefronts for 100% of 
frontage on designated streets 

o Interruptions in storefronts allowed (≤25%) for 
lobbies and required emergency access 

o All other uses prohibited on ground floor 
Ground floor commercial required in other areas 
(includes all retail plus financial, real estate, insurance 
and hotels) 
Certain nodes (e.g. 122 Ave):  ≥50% of street level 
building edges must incorporate ground floor 
commercial (same interruptions, ≤25% of frontage) 
Other nodes (130th Ave):  100% of street level building 
edges must incorporate ground floor commercial 
(same interruptions). 

Downtown  Staff not available for questions. 
Edmonds BD1 Zone:  Only commercial uses are allowed on ground 

floor.  Parking may be allowed if no located within the 
“designated street front” (45’ measured perpendicular 
to the street front of the building lot fronting on a 
mapped BD street). 
BD2 and BD3 Zones:  Only commercial uses are allowed 
within “designated street front” (see above). 
BD4 Zone:  Option 1:  Only commercial use allowed 
within “designated street front”, or Option 2:  If building 
does not meet this standard due to residential use, 
structure must be set back.  
BD5 Zone:  Options allow either standards of BD2 
above, or if this is not met, additional standards 
regarding building orientation, entrance orientation, 
additional pedestrian-oriented architectural details/art, 
and if structure is set back: landscaping and/or artwork 
between building and street. 

 

 

Attachment 13

84



Major Ped Sidewalks

Pedestrian-Oriented Street

Through-Block Pathway
(Location Estimated)

See Section 110.40.20 for  

Sidewalk Improvement Standards

Plate 34-C
Pedestrian Circulation in Totem Lake

Cross Kirkland Corridor

SLA
TER 

AV
EN

U
E 

NE

TO
TEM

LAKE
BLVD

NE

NE 132ND ST

NE 130TH LN

NE 118TH ST

12
4T

H
AV

E
N

E
12

4T
H

AV
E

N
E

NE 128TH ST12
0T

H
A V

E
N

E

1 1
6 T

H
A V

E
NE

11
3T

H
AV

E
N

E

NE 116TH ST

W
IL

LO
W

S 
R

O
AD

13
5T

H
 A

VE
  N

E

12
8T

H
 A

VE
  N

E

NE 124TH ST

CKC

NE 124TH ST

NE115TH PL

12
0T

H
AV

E
N

E

1 1
6 T

H
AV

E
N

E

CROSS KIRKLAND CORRIDOR

Attachment 14

85



Attachment 14

86



Zoning Map
Totem Lake Business District and Urban Center

Attachment 15

87



Attachment 15

88



Totem Lake Zones Allowing Residential Suites Use 
 

 
Zones where the Residential Suites use is allowed. 

 

Attachment 16

89



Attachment 16

90



MEMO 
 
The Planning Commission has asked ARCH staff for insights relative to expanding the allowed use of 
Residential Suites to the Totem Lake TL-10C and TL-10D zones.  In particular the Commission wanted 
thoughts related to Residential Suites at this location related to  

Having tenants without cars, or level of need for parking; 
Housing affordability;  
Profile of residents, including providing housing for seniors. 

 
As has been pointed out by Robert Pantley and Angela Rozmyn of Natural and Built Environments, LLC 
(see attached information submitted to the City in 2017), they are essentially the only developer 
currently of this form of housing in East King County, which has included three properties in Redmond.  
In addition, a somewhat similar type of housing was developed in Downtown Bellevue in the 1990’s.  
The following material summarizes information from these properties, and some supplemental 
information, that hopefully provide some insights related to residential suites, and in particular in the 
Totem Lake zones.  
 
A.  PARKING RELATED ISSUES  
As mentioned above, in East King County, the primary location of existing residential suites is in 
downtown Redmond and downtown Kirkland.  In both these cities, suites are zoned to allow a reduced 
level of parking.  There is one property developed by a different company (Pacific Inn) located in 
downtown Bellevue with many similarities to ‘Residential Suites’ in terms of size, month to month 
leases, and including items such as utilities directly in base rents.  It also offers other services (furnishing, 
linens) at additional costs.  In that property Bellevue allowed reduced parking for studios priced to be 
affordable at 60% of median income.  These properties seem to be operating well in terms of managing 
parking demand, which in the case of the residential suites includes active parking management 
practices.  Therefore, relative to the issue of parking requirements in the TL 10 zones, the primary issue 
seems more related to locational considerations and the ability of residents to not have a car.  That is, a 
combination of transit access and pedestrian access to daily needs such as employment, shopping and 
parks.  Following are several pieces of information that attempt to provide some insight on these topics 
relative to the Totem Lake TC-10C and TC-10D zones 
 
Walkability / Transit Access Scores 
The following table compares Walk Scores and Transit Scores for the two Totem Lake Zones, and other 
Residential Suites and efficiency studios in Kirkland, Redmond and Bellevue.  This indicates lower Walk 
and Transit scores for the Totem Lake areas compared to locations of existing properties with 
Residential Suites. 

Property Location Walk score Transit Score 
TC-10C  ~45 36 
TC- 10D  ~35   ? 
Slater 116 12340 NE 115th Pl, North Rose 

Hill, Kirkland 
68 38 

Arete 450 Central Way, Kirkland 89 50 
Vision 5 8525 163rd Ct NE, Redmond, 90 51 
Tudor Manor 16552 NE 84th Ct, Redmond 85 52 
162 Ten 16180 NE 80th St, Redmond 93 52 
Pacific Inn 225 112th Ave, Bellevue, WA 87 60 
    

Attachment 17

91



Source: walkscore.com 
 
Walking Distance to area services 
Following is information on transit routes serving each area and walking distances (and times) to 
neighborhood walking destinations.  This information indicates that TL-10C is close to one regular transit 
route and generally .3 miles closer to local destinations than TL-10D, which does not have a regular 
transit route.   

Totem Lake TL-10C (North) Adjacent to NE 116th 
Metro Route 236:  30-minute 5am-8 pm // weekend hourly (8 – 7 or 5) 
Distances to: 

Fred Meyer:  .6 miles 
Retail center on NE 124th west of I-495: .9 mile (18 minute)   
North Rose Hill center (124th Ave NE / NE 116th St):  .5 miles (10 minute) and other buses 
Trader Joe (Totem Lake Center):  1.0 mile (via Connector) (20 minutes) 
Lake Washington Technical College: 1.4 miles (28 minutes) 

 
Totem Lake (South) TL-10D Adjacent to Forbes Creek 
Metro Route 893 (School bus route only - Lake WA High School route).  One AM, one PM 
On street parking—see map. 
Distances to (.3 miles more than TL-10C zone): 

Fred Meyer: 1.2 miles (24 minutes) 
Retail center on NE 124th west of I-495:  1.2 miles (24 minutes) 
North Rose Hill center (124th Ave NE / NE 116th St):  .8 miles (16 minutes) 
Trader Joe (Totem Lake Center):  1.3 mile (via Connector) 
Lake Washington Technical College:  1.7 miles (33 minutes) 

 
Other Nearby Transit (across freeway, on 124th Ave NE: Route 235, 277 (Rt 235 has later evening 
coverage all days). 

 
King County Right Size Parking Website 
The King County Right Size Parking website (http://rightsizeparking.org) includes a map of the county 
illustrating basic parking needs in different areas.  A review of that map indicates that in much of 
Kirkland (including much of the Totem Lake area), lower parking needs correlate to areas along roads 
with better transit service, and in particular near transit stops.  Related to the Totem Lake Zones, the TL-
10C has better transit access and is closer to retail than the TL-10D parcel.  However, the Right Size 
Parking map doesn’t have significant variations in suggested parking levels for different areas of 
Kirkland.  Therefore, there may be limitations to referring to this resource for a more nuanced analysis 
of parking needs.   
 
On-Street Parking.  In the area within and immediately adjacent to the TL 10C and TL 10D Totem Lake 
zones there is limited off-street parking.  The immediate arterials have none or limited on-street 
parking.  The limited on-street parking within ¼ to ½ mile of these zones is primarily on single-family cul-
de-sacs, and possibly on ‘private’ commercial use roads (see map).  This may create some sensitivity to 
ensuring adequate on-site parking.   
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 17

92



 
Kirkland Residential Parking Requirements. 
Finally, while this rezone request is limited to Residential Suites, it may be helpful to look at general 
residential parking requirements in different areas of the city.  There appears to be no difference in the 
base residential parking standards for residential uses in Totem Lake (including a project currently being 
permitted in TL 10B, immediately north of the TL-10C zone) and the downtown area.  We understand 
that in 2017, the City Council approved amendments to the provisions for parking studies in Totem Lake 
which eliminated the “buffer” that is added to the result from a parking study in other areas of the city.  
This change acknowledged the business district’s location within an Urban Center.   
 

Residential Parking Requirements 
  Lifebridge (Totem Lake) / 

Downtown 
Studio 1.2 
One Bedroom 1.3 
Two Bedroom 1.6 
Three Bedroom 1.8 
Visitor 10% of residential 

 
Summary.   The indicators above could lead to different conclusions regarding setting parking standards 
for Residential Suites.  Some factors (e.g. walk score, transit score) indicate different conditions with the 
TL 10C and 10D zones which could argue for establishing higher parking ratios.  As mentioned above, the 
City has provisions allowing parking needs studies to support approving lower parking requirements 
based on site specific conditions.  Kirkland’s regulations establish the same base parking requirements 
for affordable housing as for market-rate residential uses.  The approach used by affordable housing 
projects, such as the Imagine Housing development in Totem Lake, has been to do a parking needs study 
and has allowed parking requirements for each property to be based on their unique circumstances (e.g. 
location, type of households, affordability level).   
 
Given the information about the challenges to walking to services and transit in the TL 10C and TL 10D 
zones, a suggested approach would be to retain the standard multifamily parking ratios for residential 
suites in these zones, but call out the ability to use a parking study to adjust the parking requirement.  
This approach would enable a site-specific analysis and opportunity for an applicant to propose a 
parking plan for this area which might be different from one designed for a downtown or more compact 
urban environment. 
  

Attachment 17

93



B.  AFFORDABILITY AND TYPES OF HOUSEHOLDS.   
 
A general question was asked about the affordability of residential suites and types of households 
residing in them, particularly seniors.  Attached is a table that summarizes rent levels for the various 
Residential Suites/efficiency studios located in Kirkland, Redmond and Bellevue.  It includes information 
on advertised rent levels, rents per square foot, and affordability relative to median income.  Most of 
these are owned by the applicant.  One property, Pacific Inn, in downtown Bellevue, is owned by 
another private party, and has many similarities to the other residential suites. It was built in the late 
1990’s.  It has received some public funding assistance and has a mix of affordability levels (60% and 
80% of median income).   
 
As the applicant has indicated, currently rents at the residential suites are consistently affordable at less 
than 80% of median income and typically around 60% of median income (plus or minus depending on 
unit sizes).  It is common for market rate rents of one to three-bedroom units in East King County to be 
affordable at 90% to 100%+ plus of median income.  So relative to median income, residential suites are 
more affordable.  For the Pacific Inn, there is a different experience.  Twenty percent (20%) of their units 
are limited at 60% of median income, and the balance have rents limited to 80% of median income, with 
no income restrictions.  Currently, the rents for these later units are renting at the maximum level 
allowed, and in addition, they are actively marketed to include additional services.    
 
We have been tracking rents on a couple of these properties over time.  For one of the residential suites 
projects developed by Natural and Built Environments located in Redmond, when they first applied for 
permits around 2013, they indicated that lower end rents would be affordable at less than 50% of 
median.  When they opened, lower end rents were affordable at just over 50% of median income, and 
currently their low end advertised rents are affordable at 56% of median income.  This trend of rents 
increasing relative to median income has been experienced even more at Pacific Inn.  When it was first 
built, the units with rents restricted at 80% of median income were renting at levels of affordability 
between 60% and 70% of median income.  Over time, rents on those units approached 80% of median 
income limits, and currently they actively market the property with services that result in total housing 
expenses being greater than 80% of median income.   
 
The applicant made the comment that ‘to allow an affordability option in lieu of LEED certification is a 
false equivalency…..’  In general, we would concur with that statement and their statement that 
residential suites provide relative affordability.  Historically, evaluating affordability provisions has been 
based on looking at land use actions and linking affordability to those actions.  Currently Kirkland does 
not require any affordability in the downtown area.  Therefore it was consistent with that practice to 
not have a linkage to affordability for residential suites in downtown.  Our understanding was that the 
LEED provisions were driven by other considerations, not as a trade-off to relaxing affordability 
requirements.  In the Totem Lake TL 10C and TL 1OD zones other residential uses are required to 
provide 10% affordable at 50% of median income.  In Redmond, residential suites have been required to 
meet the same affordability provisions as any other residential property in the area where they are built.  
One purpose of having affordability requirements, even when the affordability levels are at or close to 
market rents, is to help preserve affordability over time.  This occurred in some of the first properties in 
downtown Redmond where affordable rents were relatively close to market rents.  But over time the 
affordable units have maintained their relative affordability while market rents have increased relative 
to median income.  The Pacific Inn property in Bellevue also illustrates this objective to ensure that 
affordability is protected over time.   
 

Attachment 17

94



Relative to types of households who live in resident suites/efficiency units, the applicant has provided 
information relative to their experience.  We do not track this information closely, but from 
conversations with managers, it is primarily one person, with some two-person households.  There are 
very few children.  Information on age of residents at the Pacific Inn is not available due to the need for 
privacy with this information.  As a result, we were unable to get specific information regarding the 
number of seniors living at the property. 
 
  

Attachment 17

95



LOCAL RESIDENTIAL SUITES / EFFICIENCY UNITS 
 

 
 
 

Arete:   450 Central Way, Kirkland
Size (sq ft) Rent/sq ft Aff Level *

Studio  1 Bath $980 $250 167 $5.87 57%
1 Bed 1 BR 1 Bath $1,800 $250 715 $2.52 103%
1 Bedroom  1 Bath $1,650 $0 636 $2.59 94%
3 BRs   2 Baths $2,700 $0 1324 $2.04 107%
1 Bedroom  1 Bath $1,600 $0 527 $3.04 92%

* Does not include parking 

Vison 5 8525 163rd Ct NE, Redmond, WA 98052
Studio 1 Bath $955 250 150 $6.37 56%
Studio 1 Bath $1,010 300 $3.37 59%

Tudor Manor 16552 NE 84th Ct, Redmond
No Availability
Studio 1 Bath 258 $0.00 3%

162Ten 16210 NE 80th St, Redmond, WA 98052
Studio 1 Bath $900 186 $5.16 53%
Studio 1 Bath $965 216 $4.75 57%
Studio 1 Bath $1,065 255 $4.41 62%
Studio 1 Bath $1,140 312 $3.85 66%

Pacific Inn 225 112th Ave, Bellevue, WA
Studio 1 Bath $1,395 330 $4.23 80% **

**  Provide a range of services at addiional cost.
Source: Apartments.com, ARCH information

Attachment 17

96




